2000

# Max W. Young, et. al. v. Wycoff Company, Inc., et. al. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs-Appellants, MAX W. YOUNG, AUDREY L. YOUNG, and ROGER CLARK YOUNG [YOUNG] are all minority shareholders in the four (4) defendant companies and commenced this action against WYCOFF COMPANY, INC. [COMPANY]; WYCOFF WAREHOUSE, INC. [WAREHOUSE]; WYCOFF CORPORATION [CORPORATION]; MOUNTAIN SERVICE, INC. [MOUNTAIN SERVICE]; and ZIONS FIRST NATIONAL BANK [ZIONS], as Executor of the estate of M. S. Wycoff, deceased, and as Trustee under the Last Will and Testament of Milton Stanley "Slim" Wycoff, seeking relief on two separate claims. The first claim sought

(1) an order directing defendant Zions to transfer certain securities to the other defendants as required by an agreement of April 26, 1965 among Max W. Young, M. S. Wycoff and others, (2) an accounting by defendant Zions with respect to its dividend, distribution and debt relationships with the other defendants, (3) the appointment of a receiver for defendants Company, Warehouse, Corporation, and Mountain Service, and (4) judgment that defendants Company, Warehouse, Corporation and Mountain Service be dissolved, wound up and their assets distributed. The second claim sought judgment against the defendants because of their wrongful discharge and removal of plaintiff Max Young from the management and board of directors of the defendant Wycoff corporations, and damages in the amount of \$120,000 by way of lost compensation.

#### DISPOSITION IN THE TRIAL COURT

The case was tried before the Honorable James S. Sawaya, District Judge, who entered Judgment on January 26, 1976, in favor of defendants and against plaintiffs, no cause of action, on all claims: and awarded defendants their costs.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs-Appellants seek reversal of the judgment of the District Court, entry of judgment in favor of plaintiffs on both claims, and such other relief as this court deems proper.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The four defendant companies other than Zions collectively hereinafter referred to as the "Wycoff Companies" are all closely held Utah corporations engaged in the trucking, transportation and warehousing business. Company operates a trucking business in Utah and portions of Idaho and Colorado providing handling of specialty items such as film and mail. Mountain Service owns trucks and equipment which it leases principally to Company. Warehouse owns an office building and three warehouses. Corporation owns four warehouses and also owns, and leases to Company, a shop building, dock, garage and terminal area. The Wycoff Companies have inter-related business operations and have common members on their respective boards of directors.

Appellants own approximately twenty-five percent of the outstanding voting stock in defendants Company, Warehouse, and Corporation. Mountain Service is wholly owned and controlled (99.99%) by Company. Legal title to and the right to vote the controlling majority stock of Company, Warehouse, and Corporation is held, and at all times material hereto, was held, by defendant Zions as executor of the estate of M. S. Wycoff and trustee under the last will and testament of Milton Stanley ("Slim") Wycoff.

Appellant Max Young was first employed by Company in January of 1950 as a clerk, and in time was promoted to the office of business manager. He was also business manager of Corporation from the time of its inception and generally developed and managed both Mountain Service and Warehouse as general manager. During his tenure with the Wycoff Companies, Mr. Young sat on their boards of directors as executive vice-president of all four boards. The other members of the boards consisted of C. Leland Clayton, M. S. Wycoff and Earl Lewis who were all stockholders directly involved in the daily operations of the Wycoff Companies.

Appellants acquired their 25 percent interest in the Wycoff companies through a combination of gifts from M. S. Wycoff and purchases from the corporation. The gifts were given primarily to appellant Young as compensation for his service to the corporations and as an inducement to insure Young's continued service in the business. Max Young worked hard and faithfully for the corporations during his employment to enhance the value of his interest and that of the other shareholders.

M. S. Wycoff, the principal founder of the Wycoff Companies died testate on March 3, 1966, and all of his controlling stock in the Wycoff Companies was distributed to

Zions under two trusts established by M. S. Wycoff's will. Upon the death of M. S. Wycoff, Max Young became the chief executive officer of each of the companies, a position he maintained with the acquiescence of Zions until February 1, 1968.

During Max Young's association with the Wycoff Companies they had a history of continued growth and expansion into new commodities and geographic localities ("authorities"). To accomplish this expansion the companies had followed a policy of tight financial management: operating on a low profit margin, and reinvesting profits into the firms (Tr. 34-35, 39-40) [Exhibits P-22, P-23, D-10]. When Max Young assumed operational control of the Companies after M. S. Wycoff's death, it was his objective to continue these historical policies and expand the Companies' territory to include the West Coast. (Tr. 34-35) Acquisition of new routes required additional equipment and added facilities which, of course, cost money.

At the time of his death, M. S. Wycoff's principal asset consisted of stock and debentures in the Wycoff Companies [Exhibits D-42, D-43]. The total asset value of his estate was approximately \$501,841.50 (Tr. 246) and was subject to approximately \$78,177.75 federal and \$65,000

state estate taxes (Tr. 299-300), as well as widow's allowances. Zions wanted immediate cash to satisfy these estate liabilities and sought to utilize the Wycoff Companies as vehicles for generating funds [e.g. Exhibits D-50, D-51]. As Zion's principal trust executive, Claron Spencer testified that Zions viewed the interests of the estate and the companies as "parallel." (Tr. 256-57)

From March, 1966, until September, 1967, Zions did not take an active interest in the daily operations of the Wycoff companies although it was interested in obtaining funds from them. Max Young operated the companies during this period and they were more profitable than ever before but, as Mr. Young informed Claron Spencer, there were seldom any funds available for the estate in light of the companies needs for growth [Exhibit D-10]. Even prior to the death of M. S. Wycoff, the companies had never maintained a regular dividend policy. Nevertheless, the directors of the Wycoff Companies made every effort to assist the estate in satisfying its liabilities. As a result of their conflicting objectives, however, relationships between Max Young and Zions became strained.

On September 1, 1967, a meeting was held at the request of Claron Spencer for the purpose of expanding the boards of

directors of each corporation from four to nine [Exhibits D-11, D-12]. The estate was in need of funds, and rather than sell some of the estate assets to satisfy these obligations, Zions sought to obtain managerial control of the Wycoff companies so that it could channel funds from the companies into the estate. Appellant Max Young attended this meeting and protested the proposed change for the reason that the corporations had always operated with internal boards of directors who were familiar with the needs of the companies [Exhibit D-12]. Zions voted its controlling stock at the meeting including certain shares of Mountain Service, the ownership of which was at that time a matter of dispute, and the boards of directors of each company were increased from four to nine. Thereafter, Zions nominated and elected five additional members to each board. Four of these new directors were employees of Zions and the fifth was the attorney representing the estate. None of the new directors had any experience in the transportation industry (Tr. 261). As Claron Spencer testified, the purpose of this board reorganization was to facilitate a preconceived plan for the redemption of stock and debentures and to slow down the growth of the companies which would materially advance the interests of the estate (Tr. 260-263).

During November, 1967, the new boards passed resolutions limiting managements' ability to bid on new contracts or routes, setting a \$10,000 ceiling on expenditures and creating an Executive Committee to oversee all company spending. [See e.g. Exhibits P-41 and P-30 to -32] By the terms of these resolutions, a limitation on management was necessitated by "certain financial commitments . . . placed on the corporation in the near future due to the death of the founder." Again, as Claron Spencer testified, the purpose of these and subsequent acts discussed below "was to slow down the growth of the companies so that there would be greater use of the income and assets available to the trustee or executor" (Tr. 262).

During December, 1967, Spencer and other Zion board members discussed plans with William Shea for the creation of a new position of "comptroller." Young and the other board members were not consulted with respect to these plans because Zions did not want Young's opposition (Tr. 265). Mr. Shea was permitted to draft his own job description (Tr. 336-37) [Exhibit P-5] which gave him direct financial control over the operations of the Wycoff companies. Shea took his instructions from Claron Spencer (Tr. 341) and understood his job as building up corporate assets, keeping expenses

low, and getting as much money as possible out of the Wycoff Companies and into the hands of Zions (Tr. 334, 341-42). Pursuant to a request by Zions, a meeting of the board of Company was held on January 30, 1968, and a resolution was passed, over the objection of Max Young, creating the position of vice-president and comptroller [Exhibit D-13]. Young objected to the resolution for the reason that it would, in effect, take the control of the companies out of management's hands by limiting its ability to control employees, expenditures, income and other important items. Shea was introduced to the board as the man who would assume the new position. The position gave Zions the control it desired to satisfy the needs of the estate at the expense of the companies' normal business objectives and goals.

By letter dated February 1, 1968 [Exhibit P-2], directed to Mr. Spencer, Young outlined his objections to the appointment of the comptroller and said that the appointment had the effect of relieving appellant of all his duties with the companies. At a meeting of the board of Company held on February 13, 1968, the board, over Mr. Young's objection and negative vote, decided to treat the letter as a resignation [Exhibit D-49]. At trial, Spencer testified that there was no language of resignation in the letter (Tr. 273), and that

Young wasn't discharged for his failure to maintain profits for the companies (Tr. 274). On the other hand, Spencer testified that Young's resistance with respect to Zions plans for taking company funds to satisfy estate liabilities was seen as a reflection of Young's poor "moral fibre." Mr. Roger Andrus, a driver foreman for the Company, who had no experience in management, was elected president and general manager to replace Young at the February 13, 1968, meeting.

Appellant Young continued to serve on the boards of directors of the Wycoff companies until October, 1968, when he was dismissed therefrom.

On November 6, 1968, the board of directors of Company directed a stock dividend of 1800 shares of a new class of recently created preferred stock having an aggregate par value of \$180,000.00. Appellant received 450 shares of this preferred stock dividend [Exhibit D-50]. Just fifteen days later and on November 21, 1968, the board called the preferred stock for redemption [Exhibit P-64] at its par value of \$100.00 per share. As reflected in the minutes, the purpose for the call was to generate funds for the estate. The redemption right was to expire at 5:00 p.m. on December 2, 1968, and according to the board's resolution, stock not so redeemed was to remain outstanding on the books of the corporation. There was no indication that unredeemed stock would ever be subject to another call. The

redemption scheme was part of a preconceived plan to satisfy liabilities of the Wycoff estate and was not part of an ongoing business procedure. Appellants were forced to redeem their stock for \$45,000, upon which they were forced to pay \$15,000 in taxes. The estate, however, received approximately \$110,196.00 but paid no taxes on this income because of an exemption provided in §303 of the Internal Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. §303. There was no apparent business purpose for this action, and it did not advance the financial position of the corporations.

On December 2, 1968, debentures of Company totaling \$50,000.00 were redeemed from the estate at a par value and the funds were again used to pay taxes. These debentures were not due until April 1, 1978, and bore interest at the rate of 7 percent per annum.

According to Mr. Shea, vice-president and comptroller, the funds used for these redemptions were borrowed by Company from Mountain Service which in turn borrowed \$300,000 from Zions bank at 7 percent interest and secured the loan with Mountain Service equipment [Exhibit P-70, P-64]. The redemption alternative was chosen as the least expensive way to pay off the needs of the estate because it had less tax consequences to the estate than a dividend (Tr. 379-80) and

because the company would not have to pay any dividends to minority shareholders (Tr. 405). None of the funds were used to retire other outstanding loans of the Company, but the funds were obtained for the sole purpose of retiring the debentures and redeeming the preferred stock (Tr. 343-44, 406). Again, the debenture retirement was done at the request of Zions (Tr. 346). More important, the redemption was effectuated during a period of decreasing earnings (Tr. 344) [Exhibits P-58 through 63] and poor profits (Tr. 383). As a result of this scheme, the companies were placed in a poor credit position and had difficulty obtaining regular business loans from lending institutions, other than Zions, who offered better credit terms [See e.g. Exhibit P-53].

Mr. Spencer testified that the redemption tax exemption was seen as the best alternative for acquiring funds for the estate if the minority did not resist (Tr. 246). Spencer was aware that the companies would have to borrow funds to accomplish the redemption (Tr. 255), that the Company was, at that time, in a "short cash" position (Tr. 256), and that any funds received by minority shareholders would have to be treated as ordinary income (Tr. 247-48). However, despite the fact that sale of the debentures would have satisfied a large portion of the estate's tax liabilities, Zions was

unwilling to market the debentures because they were unsecured and would have had to be sold at a discount (Tr. 253).

Neither Mr. Spencer or Mr. Shea could articulate any business motive for these redemptions.

Although the debentures bore interest at 7 percent per annum, their premature redemption resulted in an increased burden on the companies because the \$300,000 note to Mountain Service was a demand note at rates ranging on an average over the prime rate [Exhibit] was unwilling to sell the note because the company to increase after to pay interest to rates in excess of the prime rate.

Zions also caused other Wycoff trust to be redeemed \$11,000 on April 11, 1971; \$5,000 on April 11, 1972; \$10,000 on October 11, 1972 and \$4,000 on September 6, 1972 (Tr. 345, 357) Zions redeemed these debentures as testamentary trusts. All of these debentures matured at interest at 7 percent. There was no apparent business

Handwritten notes and calculations:

$$\begin{array}{r} 800000 \\ \hline 080000 \\ 891000 \\ \hline 81 \\ 82 \\ 9 \\ \hline 2 \\ 92 \\ \hline 53 \end{array}$$

Other markings:  $\uparrow$ ,  $\circledast$ , X, 52

lly renewed  
o 2 percent  
the estate  
ng to  
there-  
is at  
uce  
February  
4, 1971;  
1972;  
P-38]  
in  
72. All  
e

purpose for any of these redemptions. Moreover, these redemptions were effectuated during a period of financial difficulty when the companies had other pressing business needs for the funds [See e.g. Exhibits P-37, P-38, P-39]

A review of the books and records of the Wycoff Companies conducted by Mr. Jackson, a certified public accountant for these firms, for the years 1965 through 1969 [Exhibit P-29] concluded that as of February 1970:

- "A The working capital and cash balances of the companies in total has decreased substantially since December 31, 1967.
- B. Accounts receivable in total has increased substantially since December 31, 1967.
- C. The companies' over-all indebtedness under long-term financing has increased substantially without any appreciable increase in assets since December 31, 1967."

Certain accounting adjustments should be considered to determine the real financial position of the Wycoff companies in the years after Mr. Young's dismissal and during Zions' control. For example, substantial insurance rebates, earned by the companies before 1968, were attributed as income in years after 1968. The same is true with respect to rate increases due to the companies during 1966 and 1967. The depreciation schedule of the companies equipment was changed

after 1968 from a double-declining balance method to a straight line method (Tr. 358), resulting in an apparent increase in company income after 1968 of approximately \$185,000.00 to \$200,000.00, while the real asset value of the older fleet was substantially decreased. According to Mr. Shea the increased income before taxes of the companies was "directly attributable" to the depreciation method used currently as compared to the method used previously. (Tr. 360) [Exhibit P-58] Finally, for certain years, items of extraordinary income were included in calculating gross income, such as \$32,504 from the sale of the Freeport Warehouse in 1972 [Exhibit P-58] These adjustments caused an unrealistic inflation of income during the years of Zions' control resulting in an even worse financial picture than Mr. Jackson had painted.

During the period 1967 through 1973 the growth of the four companies had been 65.4 percent or 11 percent per year [Exhibit D-71]. Appellants evidence, prepared from the financial statements received in evidence, [proposed Exhibits P-54 through P-57] indicated that for the period 1965 through 1973, the average annual growth rate had been 10.89 percent per year since 1967, but from 1965 through 1967 the total

growth was 46.17 percent, or 23.09 percent per year. This latter evidence comports with Mr. Spencer's own testimony as to Zions purpose for taking control of the companies which was "to slow down growth so that greater use of the income and assets would be available to the trustee and executor" (Tr. 262). A comparison of the ratios of net income to total income for the period 1965 through 1973 reveals that this ratio fell from an annual average of 5.56 percent during 1965 through 1967, to the highest percentage of 3.92 percent in 1968 and as low as 0.29 percent in 1967. Again these figures further illustrate the success of Zions' announced purpose in managing the Wycoff companies.

Perhaps one of the major problems with Zion's control of the Wycoff Companies was its failure to provide skilled, competent, and qualified management. As Mr. Shea testified "we floundered around with a management team in a situation for which we were totally unprepared;" "We had a management team that didn't know how to get rate increases;" (Tr. 393, 413)" "I have never been a manager for a company. I was not hired to manage the Wycoff Company. I have never attempted to manage the Wycoff Company or any of its affiliates." (Tr. 375). Mr. Andrus was elected president and general manager but he had no previous managerial experience.

Thus, while the Wycoff Companies labored under poor management, decreasing earnings, and increasing debt, all to the disadvantage of the minority shareholders, Zions and the estate reaped a harvest of corporate assets.

A related dispute between appellants and respondents concerning the management of corporate affairs after the death of M. S. Wycoff centered around the interpretation of Milton Stanley Wycoff's will. Mr. Wycoff's intention on the matter of succession in management clearly appears in his will. It was his desire that the trustee operate the business but that, if business conditions did not permit operation, it was within the trustee's discretion not to operate and preserve them. If they were operated, control was to be transferred to Bruce Wycoff gradually through the distribution of stock or otherwise at such time as the businesses could be properly managed and controlled by him. [Exhibit P-1 p. 4].

The direction in the will relating to Mr. Young is much more emphatic. If the trustee elected to operate any business...

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