2000

Max W. Young, et al. v. Wycoff Company, Inc., et al. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW OF THE LOWER COURT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED

Appellant apparently is claiming an abuse of discretion by the trial court, and requests this court to "exercise an independent review of the evidence and make its judgment on the basis of the record." (App. Brief, p. 24) Counsel then reviews various points and matters as though attempting to persuade a fact finder as to the preponderance of evidence. It must be remembered, however, that the trial judge heard all of the evidence, observed the conduct of the witnesses, reviewed the exhibits, heard extensive arguments, and has entered Findings based upon the totality of the record. Those Findings represent the considered judgment of the trial court, and should not be disregarded. It is submitted that in every instance such are based upon substantial evidence presented at trial and should not be overturned by this Court.

Respondent agrees that it is well established that an appellate court may review the evidence in an equity case. Pagano v. Walker, ___ Utah ___, 539 P.2d 451 (Utah 1975) However, it is equally well established that the Supreme Court of Utah will not upset the finding of the trial court in an equity case without good reason:

Even though our constitutional provision, Section 9 of Article VIII, states that in equity cases this court may review the facts, we nevertheless take into account the advantaged position of the trial judge. Accordingly, we recognize that it is his prerogative to judge the credibility of the witnesses, and in case of conflict, we assume that the trial court believed the evidence which supports the findings. We review the whole evidence in the light most favorable to them; and we will not disturb them merely because this court might have viewed the matter differently, but only if the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings. Stone v. Stone, 19 Utah 2d 378, 380, 431 P.2d 802, 803 (1967) [Emphasis added.]

Accord: Corbet v. Corbet, 24 Utah 2d 378, 472 P.2d 430 (1970) [Action for settlement of partnership accounts]. See also Pagano v. Walker, supra.

This principle has also been applied by other courts in cases similar to this one. In White v. Perkins, 213 Va. 129, 189 S.E.2d 315 (1972), a case in which a minority shareholder sought dissolution of a corporation on the basis of allegedly "oppressive" conduct of the majority stockholder, the Supreme Court of Virginia stated:

. . . a finding of fact by the chancellor hearing evidence ore tenus carries the weight of a jury verdict, and cannot be disturbed by us unless plainly wrong or without evidence to support it.

Id. at 319. See Liddell v. Smith, 65 Ill. App. 2d 352, 213 N.E.2d 604 (1965).

Thus, although it is clear that this Court may review the evidence in this case, it is equally clear that due deference must be given to the Findings and

Conclusions of the trial court. Obviously, a trial court may accept one party's version of the evidence over that offered by the other party. To do so is the role of the judge sitting without a jury in an equity case. Therefore, after according appropriate deference to the Findings of the trial judge and reviewing the evidence in the light most favorable to those Findings, unless it can be shown that the evidence clearly preponderates against those Findings, the trial court must be affirmed. Stone v. Stone, supra. This principle has been enunciated many times by this court, most recently in Eastman v. Eastman. (Case No. 14394 - decided December 20, 1976.)

POINT II.
THE ACTS OF RESPONDENTS DID NOT CONSTITUTE
"OPPRESSIVE" ACTS, OR OTHERWISE VIOLATE
§ 16-10-92, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953

Section 16-10-92, U.C.A. 1953, provides:

The district court shall have full power to liquidate the assets and business of a corporation;

(a) In an action by a shareholder when it is established:

* * *

(2) That the acts of the directors or those in control of the corporation are illegal, oppressive or fraudulent; . . .

No claim is made here of acts of illegality or fraud. The entire case is based upon alleged acts of oppression.

We have found no Utah case interpreting the meaning of "oppressive," either in the context of the involuntary dissolution statute or otherwise. The ordinary meaning, however, is set forth in Corpus Juris Secundum as:

Harsh, rigorous or severe. Tested by ordinary definition and by common understanding, the word "oppressive," as applied to conduct, means conduct that is unjustly burdensome, harsh or merciless. 67 C.J.S. 509, 510.

In Eureka Building & Loan Association v. Meyers, 147 Kan 609, 78 P.2d 68, the court equated "oppressive" with "harsh, vigorous or severe." (Held, action by County Board of Equality in failing to grant application of Building & Loan Co. for correction of alleged error as to value of realty did not constitute oppressive act.) Similarly, in Domus Realty Corp. v. 3440 Realty Co., 40 NYS 2d 69, 73, the court defined "oppressive" as "unjustly burdensome, harsh or merciless." (In discussing oppressive conduct on part of mortgagee as bearing upon court's equitable power to deny remedy.)

The quoted statute was taken verbatim from the Model Business Corporation Act. That Act, drafted by the Committee of Corporate Laws of the Section of Corporation, Banking and Business Law of the American Bar Association, has become the foundation of the corporate laws of most states, including Utah. The same committee which originally drafted the Model Business Corporation Act, provided the following commentary relative to the section allowing involuntary dissolution in an action by a shareholder:

The Model Act provides rules to cover involuntary dissolutions by shareholders by defining four factual situations in which the courts have the power to liquidate the assets and business of the corporation. . . . Second, the controlling directors or managers acting in an illegal, oppressive or fraudulent manner. While the terms "illegal," "oppressive" or "fraudulent" are subject to judicial interpretation, they have somewhat limited definitions within all jurisdictions. [Emphasis added.] Model Bus. Corp. Act Ann. 2d § 97 TT 2 at 554.

Although Utah has no cases construing this provision, other jurisdictions have decided cases which generally indicate limits on the scope of activity which will be held to be "oppressive" under the Act. See Central Standard Life Insurance Company v. Davis, 10 Ill. 2d 566, 141 N.E.2d 45 (1957); Gidwitz v. Lanzit Corrugated Box Co., 20 Ill. 2d 208, 170 N.E.2d 131 (1960); White v. Perkins, supra. It must be kept in mind that a closely held corporation is not like a partnership, i.e., a minority stockholder of a close corporation does not have the right to demand dissolution of a corporation upon substantially the same showing as might be sufficient for dissolution of a partnership. Baker v. Commercial Body Builders, Inc., ___ Ore. ___, 507 P.2d 387 (1973). Additionally, and particularly relevant to the argument of Appellants, is the simple fact that:

. . . the management is controlled by the stockholders acting through their elected directors, and it is contemplated that the corporation is to be controlled by the majority stockholders. Gidwitz v. Lanzit Corrugated Box Co., supra at 135.

In the instant case, Max Young was never denied the right or opportunity to participate in management decisions to the extent of his stock ownership (25%). His claim seems to arise from the fact that he disagreed with the way in which the majority stockholders desired the company to be run. However, given the limited extent of his stock ownership, Mr. Young could not expect that the company would be run according to his wishes. Thus, the real question seems to be whether the majority stockholders breached any duty owed to the minority stockholders, and if they did, whether dissolution is an appropriate remedy for the breach.

To say that majority stockholders owe a duty to minority stockholders is only a starting point. The nature and scope of the duty owed must be examined. The assertion that majority stockholders are fiduciaries (Appellants' Brief at 26) is open to question:

Controlling shareholders are not regarded as fiduciaries, in the classic sense, at common law or under the statutes; but general concepts of fiduciary law are frequently used in characterizing conduct by the majority that entitles the minority to relief. Comment, Oppression as a Statutory Ground for Corporate Dissolution, Duke L.J. 128, 133, 133 (1965).

Thus, the question still remains as to what duties respondents owed appellants and whether any of those duties were breached.

Appellants argue that numerous continuing acts by the majority may amount to "oppressive" conduct, even though the acts taken individually would not necessarily be "oppressive." It appears to be admitted that no single grievance or alleged act of oppression adduced at trial would under any definition constitute "oppressive" conduct on the part of Zions First National Bank or those in control of the Wycoff boards. Rather, the argument seems to be that cumulatively the various circumstances add up to "oppressive." That is to say, that acts which in and of themselves are not oppressive, when taken together additively, amount to oppression. This is something like the new mathematics in which it is proclaimed that two plus two equals five. In any event, the authority cited for the "cumulative effect" proposition, Gidwitz v. Lanzit Corrugated Box Co., supra, involved much different circumstances than are present in this case. In Gidwitz the allegedly "oppressive" behavior had continued for a period of 10 years, and the oppressing party was not a majority stockholder, stock

ownership being split 50-50 between two families. The oppressing party had used his office as president of the corporation to gain his advantage and had denied plaintiffs the opportunity to participate in corporate affairs, including the election of directors. The facts of this case are not even remotely similar to those in Gidwitz. In the case at bar, Mr. Young was never denied his right to participate in meetings or vote for directors. By way of contrast with Gidwitz, the major act of alleged oppression in this case is the alleged fact that the majority decided to make a temporary change in corporate policy to accommodate the needs of the estate of the founder and principal stockholder.

As to other acts of the majority, Appellants cite several as either being oppressive or tending to be oppressive in cumulative effect. Appellant seems to place special weight on the allegation that respondents' course of conduct deprived the corporation of some profits which could have been made. However, the fact that a corporation did not make as great a profit as was possible is not evidence of oppression:

. . . courts of equity will not undertake to control the policy or business methods of a corporation, although it may seem that a wiser policy might be adopted, and the business more successful if other methods were pursued. [Emphasis added.] Polikoff v. Dale and Clark Building Corporation, 37 Ill. App. 2d 29, 184 N.E.2d 792, 795 (1962), citing Wheeler v. Pullman Iron and Steel Co., 143 Ill. 197, 32 N.E. 420.

Accord, Central Standard Life Insurance Co. v. Davis, *supra*. It must be remembered that the corporations in question continued to make a substantial profit during the period of the dispute, with an admitted healthy rate of growth at 11% per annum and an average annual income of over \$167,000.00.

With regard to certain allegedly oppressive acts, the Appellants take inconsistent positions. They assert that part of the primary obligation of Respondents as controlling shareholders was to "distribute those profits." (Appellants' Brief, p. 36) However, it is later argued that distributions which were made were oppressive because they caused an unfortunate tax consequence for Appellants.

The test and context within which any claim of oppression must be evaluated is set forth in Polikoff v. Dale and Clark Building Corporation:

It is, however, fundamental in the law of corporations that the majority of its stockholders shall control the policy of the corporation, and regulate and govern the lawful exercise of its franchise and business * * * Everyone purchasing or subscribing for stock in a corporation impliedly agrees that he will be bound by the acts and proceedings done or sanctioned by a majority of the shareholders, or by the agents of the corporation duly chosen by such majority, within the scope of the powers conferred by the charter. And courts of equity will not undertake to control the policy or business methods of a corporation, although it may be seen that a wiser policy might be adopted, and the business more successful if other methods were pursued. The majority of shares of its stock, or the agents by the holders thereof lawfully chosen, must be permitted to control the business of the corporation in their discretion, when not in violation of its charter, or some public law, or completely and fraudulently subversive of the rights and interests of the corporation or of a shareholder. *Id.* at 795.

Every minority stockholder must respect this framework which is the basis of any corporation.

Appellant Max Young and counsel for plaintiffs seem to question the propriety of Zions First National Bank in assuming an active part in the management of the companies, as somehow amounting to "oppressive" action. In this regard, it is manifest that M. S. Wycoff contemplated that control of the corporation in

question should be reposed in Zions First National Bank as Trustee, if the said Trustee should elect to operate the businesses. The "Residuary Trust," which contained all of the decedent's shares of voting stock in the corporations in question and therefore majority control, provides that in the discretion of the Trustee such corporations may be "operated and preserved by my said Trustee until said corporations or businesses can be properly managed and controlled by my said son." (Article VII - Third - D) Furthermore, the Testator-Settlor made it plain that the Trustee, in its discretion, might "elect to operate and preserve any corporations or businesses which I may control at the time of my death" (Article VIII) Even the direction that the Trustee should name Max W. Young as an executive of such corporations or businesses contemplates as a pre-condition thereof the assumption of control by the Trustee. Accordingly, it is submitted that the basic intent of the Testator-Settlor in substance was to repose control of the corporations in the Trustee, else how could the Trustee be charged with the duty to "operate" and "preserve" the corporations in question?

Assumption of an active role on the Board of Directors by Zions was a natural and very usual thing to occur. As is stated in Volume 2, Scott on Trusts, Section 170 at page 904:

It not infrequently happens that a trustee holding shares of a corporation as a part of the trust estate is or becomes an officer or director of the corporation.

* * *

Where the trustee holds all the shares of a corporation or a sufficient number of shares to give him substantial power of control over the election of directors and ultimately over the administration of the affairs of the corporation, he has wide discretion in the exercise of

his powers; and in accordance with the general principle applicable to the exercise of discretionary powers, the Court will not interfere with the exercise of the power unless he is guilty of an abuse of discretion. [Citations, Section 193.2 at page 1049]

When Zions finally voted the majority stock to elect directors who would reflect the majority interest (after about 18 months of operations by Max Young after M. S. Wycoff's death and absolute control by the minority interests to the detriment of majority interests), the purpose was to "build assets, keep expenses low, keep income high and retain as much income for the business as possible." (Tr. 341, 342, Ab. 109) It was of particular concern to the bank as holder of the majority stock that the corporations be managed properly. (Tr. 243, Ab. 72) Since the businesses had been built up over the years and represented the life blood and reinvested capital of M. S. Wycoff, the needs of his widow and the payment of debts and taxes necessary to preserve the companies intact for his son and heir, Bruce Wycoff, were of course taken into consideration. Testimony at trial was clear that the basic interests of the estate and the companies were parallel. (Tr. 256, Ab. 78) There was no abandonment of the interests of the companies in connection with the operation thereof after Zions assumed active involvement on the Board of Directors. To the contrary, there was a carefully programmed operation for reasonable profit and growth, not mere preservation of the companies. It certainly was a part of the bank's purpose to honor the desire and will of M. S. Wycoff to preserve profitable companies for eventual passage of ownership to Bruce Wycoff. (Tr. 258, Ab. 79) Is that oppression? Max Young would seem to be arguing that the objective of management should have been to preserve the corporations for him. Young obtained benefits during his lifetime, and the investment which he acquired amounting to a 25% interest

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